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about:blank

From: David Francis

Sent: Monday, April 16, 2018 4:35 PM

To: Andy Alexander <Andy.Alexander@blecorp.com>

Cec: Sam Interlicchia <Sam.Interlicchia@blecorp.com>; Jesse Jacobson
<Jesse.Jacobson@blecorp.com>

Subject: Re: Site A Soils Results

Thanks Andy! Appreciate the help.

Sent from my iPhone

On Apr 16, 2018, at 2:51 PM, Andy Alexander <Andy.Alexander@blecorp.com> wrote:

David,

The results for Site A are attached. | have attached a test pit plan.
Sam has not seen this data yet. Hot of the press, seconds ago.

I'm providing as preliminary draft for your information only. Test pits
could only be advanced to less than 10 feet (most 7 to 8 feet) with the
equipment used. Materials deeper than the explorations are
unknown.

Some clayey material at the surface around TP-1 and TP-2. Some
rocks present at the bottom of TP-2. You will want to selectively
control uptake of large rocks and too much clay.

Where soils were similar they were composited as shown on the
assighment sheet. Based on these results, the soils appear to be
sufficient for use as structural fill. Note our limitations on sampling
depth!

6/7/2018 10:02 AM
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Sam will issue a report with more details. Thanks, --Andy

Andrew W. Alexander, P.G., RSM
Bunnell-Lammons Engineering, Inc. (BLE)
6004 Ponders Court

Greenville, South Carolina 29615

(864) 288-1265 (voice)

(864) 288-4430 (fax)

(864) 201-5530 (cell)

andy@blecorp.com

www.blecorp.com

<image001.jpg>

This electronic transmission contains information from the consulting firm of Bunnell-Lammons Engineering, Inc., that may
be confidential or privileged. The information is intended solely for the recipient. Use by any other party is not authorized. If
you are not the intended recipient, be aware that any disclosure, copying, distribution, or use of the contents of this
information is prohibited. If you received this transmission in error, please notify us immediately by telephone
(864-288-1265) or by email (info@blecorp.com). Thank you for your cooperation.

Pursuant to North Carolina General Statutes Chapter 132, Public Records, this electronic mail message and any attachments hereto,
as well as any electronic mail message(s) sent in response to it, may be considered public record and as such are subject to request
and review by anyone at any time.

<12047-1 Test Pit Location Plan.pdf>
<12047-01 J CREEK ASSIGNMENT.pdf>

<12047-01 J CREEK PROCTORS.pdf>
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From: David Francis

Sent: Thursday, April 19,2018 4:10 PM

To: Mark Cathey <Mark.Cathey@Mcgillengineers.Com>
Subject: FW: Site A Soils Results

From: David Francis

Sent: Monday, April 16, 2018 4:34 PM
To: Andy Alexander

Cc: Sam Interlicchia; Jesse Jacobson
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

I’'m providing as preliminary draft for your information only. Test pits
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

6/7/2018 10:06 AM
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Where soils were similar they were composited as shown on the
assignment sheet. Based on these results, the soils appear to be
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

<12047-01 ] CREEK PROCTORS.pdf>

6/7/2018 10:06 AM
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From: David Francis

Sent: Thursday, April 19, 2018 4:10 PM

To: Mark Cathey (mark.cathey@mcgillengineers.com) <mark.cathey@mcgillengineers.com>
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

On Apr 16, 2018, at 2:51 PM, Andy Alexander <Andy.Alexander(@blecorp.com> wrote:

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

6/7/2018 10:08 AM
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

Sent: Thursday, April 19,2018 4:11 PM

To: Mark Cathey (mark.cathey@mcgillengineers.com) <mark.cathey@mcgillengineers.com>
Subject: FW: Site A Soils Results

From: Andy Alexander [Andy.Alexander@blecorp.com]
Sent: Monday, April 16, 2018 2:50 PM

To: David Francis

Cc: Sam Interlicchia; Jesse Jacobson

Subject: Site A Soils Results

David,

The results for Site A are attached. | have attached a test pit plan. Sam has not
seen this data yet. Hot of the press, seconds ago.

I'm providing as preliminary draft for your information only. Test pits could only
be advanced to less than 10 feet (most 7 to 8 feet) with the equipment used.
Materials deeper than the explorations are unknown.

Some clayey material at the surface around TP-1 and TP-2. Some rocks
present at the bottom of TP-2. You will want to selectively control uptake of
large rocks and too much clay.

Where soils were similar they were composited as shown on the assignment
sheet. Based on these results, the soils appear to be sufficient for use as
structural fill. Note our limitations on sampling depth!

Sam will issue a report with more details. Thanks, --Andy

6/7/2018 10:14 AM
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

EBL.E

This electronic transmission contains information from the consulting firm of Bunnell-Lammons Engineering, Inc., that may be confidential or
privileged. The information is intended solely for the recipient. Use by any other party is not authorized. If you are not the intended recipient,
be aware that any disclosure, copying, distribution, or use of the contents of this information is prohibited. If you received this transmission in
error, please notify us immediately by telephone (864-288-1265) or by email (info@blecorp.com). Thank you for your cooperation.

Pursuant to North Carolina General Statutes Chapter 132, Public Records, this electronic mail message and any attachments hereto, as well as any
electronic mail message(s) sent in response to it, may be considered public record and as such are subject to request and review by anyone at any time.

20f2 6/7/2018 10:14 AM
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BUNNELL-LAMMONS ENGINEERING, INC.

6004 PONDERS COURT

GREENVILLE, SOUTH CAROLINA 29615
PHONE: (864) 288 - 1265 FAX: (864) 288 - 4430

SOIL LABORATORY TEST ASSIGNMENT

PAGE_1__OF__1

ASSIGNMENT NUMBER

6716

PROJECT NAME : JONATHAN CREEK SOIL RECLAMATION SAMPLES RECEIVED BY: PY Il DATE: 4/10/2018
TNITTACS
BLE PROJECT NO.: J18-12047-01 TESTING ASSIGNED BY: DATE: 4/10/2018
INITIALS
BLE PROJ. MANAGER: SAM INTERLICCHIA REQUESTED COMPLETION DATE: 4/14/2018
ASSIGNMENT COMPLETE: PY DATE: 4/16/2018
TNITTACS
OTHER LABORATORY
TOMPANY TOCATION
SHIPPED BY:
SHIPPING AGENCY DATE
=
SAMPLE DESIGNATION I\égls:::: PI TRV PARTICLEVS\,ﬁiANALYSIS/FINER PROCTOR PERM;AB;.IY TRIAXIQL UC(;_ CONSEL§ § (% z 5 g E % . é
(P % AN R E I E R R E alalgla / 2|2
SAMPLE DEPTHIN FEET| W ONLY HYDROMETER NO. 200 Eg’c‘W e HHEHEHEHAEE % o % glo|E |5
= * J) clalg|Ele|E|G |8 o
ID. FROM| TO z D-2216 D-4318 D-422 D-1140 D-5084 |G D-4767 D-2166 D-2435 | 5 OO0 |5 x | © O
TP-1 05 70 [BK X
TP-2 30 70 |BK X
TP-2 8.0 i 9.0 |BK X
COMP-1 BK|TP-3, 3.0-7.0; TP-5, 6.0-7.5 X
COMP-2 BK|TP-4, 3.0-7.0; TP-5, 0.5-6.0 X
COMP-3 BK|TP-6, 3.0-7.5; TP-7, 3.0-8.0; TP-8, 3.0-8.0 X
Comments:

ASSIGN TESTING WITH AN _X_.

SAMPLE TYPE: JAR=J, BAGGIE=BG, UD. TUBE=UD, BULK=BK

‘01 BILLING PERIOD 3-31-18 TO 4-27-18

NOTE: ALL TEST PROCEDURES ARE ASTM UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED




COMPACTION TEST REPORT
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TEST RESULTS MATERIAL DESCRIPTION
Maximum dry density = 95.9 pcf Brown fi. sandy SILT
Optimum moisture = 19.8 %
Remarks:

Project No. 12047-01  Client: Haywood County
Project: Jonathan Creek Soil Reclamation

OSource of Sample: Test Pit Sample Number: COMP-1

Bunnell Lammons Engineering, Inc.

Greenville, SC

Compoiste of: TP-3, 3.0-7.0"; TP-5, 6.0-7.5'
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COMPACTION TEST REPORT
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OSource of Sample: Test Pit Sample Number: COMP-2

Bunnell Lammons Engineering, Inc.

Greenville, SC Figure




COMPACTION TEST REPORT
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COMPACTION TEST REPORT

Project: Jonathan Creek Soil Reclamation

OSource of Sample: Test Pit

Sample Number: TP-1

Bunnell Lammons Engineering, Inc.

Greenville, SC
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COMPACTION TEST REPORT

Project: Jonathan Creek Soil Reclamation

OSource of Sample: Test Pit Sample Number: TP-2

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

From: Andy Alexander [mailto:Andy.Alexander@blecorp.com]
Sent: Monday, April 30,2018 11:03 AM

To: David Francis <david.francis@haywoodcountync.gov>

Cec: Jesse Jacobson <Jesse.Jacobson@blecorp.com>

Subject: Site A and Site B Contract Documents

Hello David,

| have attached contract documents for Site A and Site B. The Site A document
is written as a change order per your request. Site B is written as a stand-alone
contract. Thanks, --Andy

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

10f1 6/7/2018 10:24 AM
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BUNNELL-LAMMONS ENGINEERING, INC.

GEOTECHNICAL, ENVIRONMENTAL AND CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS CONSULTANTS

April 30, 2018

Office of the County Manager
215 N. Main Street
Waynesville, NC 28786

Attention: Mr. David B. Francis
Program Administrator
Subject: Contact for Geotechnical Exploration — Site A

Jonathan Creek Soil Reclamation Project [Change Order No. 2]
Haywood County, North Carolina

BLE Contract Number P17-1060

BLE Project Number J18-12047-01

Dear Mr. Francis:

Bunnell-Lammons Engineering, Inc. (BLE) is pleased to submit this contract to Haywood County to
provide geotechnical engineering services for the subject project. The following sections describe the
geotechnical exploration services requested; as well as compensation, scheduling, and authorization
information. Project information is based on a correspondence with you and our Mr. Andrew Alexander,
P.G., a previous exploration performed on April 5, 2018, and a grading exhibit provided by McGill
Associates (McGill).

PROJECT INFORMATION

We understand that Haywood County is considering obtaining off-site fill soils to raise the Jonathan
Creek site in Waynesville, North Carolina. The Dennis Farm Road property (Site A) in Waynesville,
NC is currently being considered as a source for potential fill materials. The proposed borrow site is a
cow pasture across Highway 276 from the Johnathan Creek site and is approximately 4 acres in size.
The site generally consists of sloping terrain that consists of grassy ground cover with occasional
exposed rocks on the surface. Prior to this proposal, BLE performed eight test-pits at the site on April
5,2018. BLE performed proctor testing and measured moisture contents to evaluate soil’s potential
for re-use as fill material. Exploration was limited to the reach of the provided track-hoe.

SCOPE OF SERVICES

BLE proposes to explore subsurface conditions at the site by performing eight (8) soil test borings
within the footprint of the proposed excavation. This results in approximately 2 borings per acre.
Borings will be advanced to depths ranging from 20 to 25 feet below the ground surface. The borings
will be located as close to the proposed locations as possible but will be placed in accessible locations
to our all-terrain drilling equipment. During the previous test pit exploration, the current property
owner provided the excavator. Due to the sloping terrain, individual boring locations may require
benching into the hillside to create a pad for drill rig access. We assume the current property owner
will provide this service as needed.

130 OvAL RoAD, SuITe 200 PHONE (828) 277-0100
ARDEN, NORTH CAROLINA 28704 Fax  (828)277-0110



EBLE

Contract for Geotechnical Exploration — Site A [Change Order No. 2] April 30, 2018
Jonathan Creek Soil Reclamation Project, Haywood County, North Carolina BLE Contract Number P17-1060

The specific scope of services will include:

e Contacting the North Carolina One Call Center to locate underground utilities.

e A site reconnaissance and establishment of boring locations by a geotechnical professional,
using existing site features and estimating distances. Mobilization of an all-terrain drill rig to
the site. Some clearing and minor grading for access is anticipated; borings will be placed in
locations accessible to our drill rig, as previously mentioned.

e Performance of eight (8) soil test borings to depths ranging from 20 to 25 feet. A total linear
footage of 175 feet is proposed for this project. The soil test borings will be drilled in general
accordance with ASTM D 1586. Borings will be advanced to their specified depths or until
refusal, whichever occurs first. Measurements of groundwater depths (if encountered) will be
obtained at the time of drilling.

e Prior to leaving the site, the drillers will backfill the boreholes with soil cuttings. It should be
noted that these backfill soils might eventually settle, thereby creating a depression at the
surface and possibly creating a trip hazard. The potential for settlement can be minimized by
grouting the boreholes in lieu of backfilling them with soil cuttings. The proposed budget does
not include a provision for grouting the boreholes, please contact us if you would like to expand
the scope to include grouting at additional cost.

e At the completion of drilling, we will transport the samples to our laboratory where they will
be examined by a geotechnical engineer and visually classified.

e Laboratory testing to include up to 4 proctors and 4 moisture content tests to estimate the
engineering properties of the remolded and compacted soils.

e Preparation of an engineering report that will include:

1. A summary of our understanding of the proposed construction

2. A summary of the exploration and encountered subsurface conditions, including the
presence of rock and/or groundwater, if encountered.

3. An evaluation of on-site soils for re-use as fill material

Please note the assessment of site environmental conditions for the presence of pollutants in the soil,
rock or groundwater of the site is beyond the proposed scope of this exploration.

COMPENSATION AND SCHEDULING

Bunnell-Lammons Engineering will provide the scope of services outlined in this contract for a lump
sum fee of $6,250. This lump sum fee assumes that all boring locations will be accessible to all-terrain
drilling equipment.

During the previous test pit exploration, the current property owner provided an excavator. Due to the
sloping terrain, individual boring locations may require benching into the hillside to create a pad for
drill rig access. We assume that the current property owner will provide this service. Otherwise, we
can retain a grading contractor to bench in the pads at a rate of $1,200 per day. We assume work can
be completed in one day.

If unexpected site or subsurface conditions are encountered and it becomes necessary to modify the
exploration plan, we will contact you to discuss recommended variations in the exploration plan and
our fee. The above lump sum fee is effective for a period of six months from the date of this contract.
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Contract for Geotechnical Exploration — Site A [Change Order No. 2] April 30, 2018
Jonathan Creek Soil Reclamation Project, Haywood County, North Carolina BLE Contract Number P17-1060

Based on our present schedule, we can begin the field work within 1 to 2 weeks after we receive your
authorization to proceed. Drilling should be completed within about two working days after
commencing. The written report will follow approximately two weeks after all of the field work has
been completed.

AUTHORIZATION

As our written authorization for the above scope of services, please execute the attached change order
form and return the acceptance copy of this contract to BLE.

Any exceptions to this contract or special requirements not covered in the contract should be attached to
the returned acceptance copy for the mutual consideration of both parties.

We appreciate the opportunity to serve as your geotechnical consultant at this site. If you have any
questions, please do not hesitate contacting us at (828) 277-0100.

Sincerely,
BUNNELL-LAMMONS ENGINEERING, INC.

P

f:

':xzw ;wiﬂx 7 Ao -
Jess¢ R. Jacobson, P.E. aniel J. Anthony, B~
AsHeville Branch Manager Staff Engineer

CC: Mr. Andrew Alexander, P.G. -- BLE

Attachments: Change Order Form

5:\02 awa projects\mcgill\12047 jonathan creek soil reclaimation project\site a geotech\contract change order 2 for jonathan
creek site a geotech.docx



CHANGE ORDER FORM



CHANGE ORDER
Between
HAYWOOD COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA
and
BUNNELL-LAMMONS ENGINEERING, INC.

DATE April 30, 2018

PROJECT NAME Jonathan Creek Soil Reclamation Project
Haywood County PO # 180546

BLE CONTRACT #/DATE P17-1060 / December 1, 2017

BLE Project # J18-12047-01

CHANGE ORDER # [Title] 2 [Site A—Geotechnical Exploration]
CURRENT CONTRACT FEES $20,299

CHANGE ORDER FEES $6,250

REVISED TOTAL PROJECT FEES $26,549

DESCRIPTION OF CHANGE(S): Haywood County and McGill have requested that BLE perform a Geotechnical
Exploration of Site A. The detailed scope of service is provided on the attached documented which forms part of
this Change Order. We recommend that Haywood County allot $6,250 for these services.

The work covered by this Change Order will be performed under and governed by the terms of BLE Contract No.
P17-1060 between Haywood County and Bunnell-Lammons Engineering, Inc. dated December 1, 2017. The
services described herein shall be incorporated into and become part of the Scope of Services upon approval and
execution by authorized representatives below.

BLE Approved (Print) Andrew W. Alexander, P.G.
Title Senior Hydrogeologist
Signature %u/ M

4/30/2018°
Date
lient A

Client Approved (Print)
Title
Signature

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

EBLLE

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
Subject: Contract for Geotechnical Exploration

Site B- Jonathan Creek Soil Reclamation Project
Haywood County, North Carolina
BLE Contract Number P18-0429

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
P.G., and a grading exhibit provided by McGill Associates (McGill).

PROJECT INFORMATION

We understand that Haywood County is considering obtaining off-site fill soils to raise the Jonathan
Creek site in Waynesville, North Carolina. The Old Pathway Baptist Church property (Site B) located
at 44 Pinto Place in Waynesville, NC is currently being considered as a source for potential fill
materials. The proposed borrow site is a wooded area behind the church approximately 3 miles north
of the Johnathan Creek site and is approximately 2 acres in size. The site generally consists of heavily
wooded, steeply sloping terrain.

SCOPE OF SERVICES

BLE proposes to explore subsurface conditions at the site by performing four (4) soil test borings within
the footprint of the proposed excavation. This results in approximately 2 borings per acre. Borings
will be advanced to depths ranging from 20 to 45 feet below the ground surface. The borings will be
located as close to the proposed locations as possible but will be placed in accessible locations to our
all-terrain drilling equipment. Due to the steeply sloping terrain, individual boring locations may
require benching into the hillside to create pads for drill rig access. We assume the current property
owner will provide these services, as needed.
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Contract for Geotechnical Exploration — Site B April 30, 2018
Jonathan Creek Soil Reclamation Project, Haywood County, North Carolina BLE Contract Number P18-0429

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
locations readily accessible to our drill rig, as previously mentioned. We anticipate difficult
moving on this site due to steep terrain.

e Performance of four (4) soil test borings to depths ranging from 20 to 45 feet. A total linear
footage of 125 feet is proposed for this project. The soil test borings will be drilled in general
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

Bunnell-Lammons Engineering will provide the scope of services outlined in this proposal for a lump
sum fee of $6,500. This lump sum fee assumes that all boring locations will be accessible to all-terrain
drilling equipment. We anticipate difficult moving on this site due to steep terrain.

Due to the sloping terrain, individual boring locations may require benching into the hillside to create
a pad for drill rig access. We assume that the current property owner will provide this service.
Otherwise, we can retain a grading contractor to bench in the pads at a rate of $1,200 per day. We
assume work can be completed in one day.

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

As our written authorization for the above scope of services, please execute the attached acceptance
sheet and return the acceptance copy of this contract to BLE.

Any exceptions to this contract or special requirements not covered in the contract should be attached to
the returned acceptance copy for the mutual consideration of both parties. Please note that the Terms
and Conditions are a part of this contract. Any Purchase Order issued to authorize this project should
reference this document (P18-0429).

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

£

A%

Jes§,;5 R. Jacobson, P.E. an J. Anthony, ELL—
Asheville Branch Manager Staff Engineer

CC: Mr. Andrew Alexander, P.G. -- BLE

Attachments: Contract Terms and Conditions

5:\02 awa projects\megill\12047 jonathan creek soil reclaimation project\site b geotech\contract for jonathan creek site b
geotech p18-0429.docx



TERMS AND CONDITIONS
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BUNNELL-LAMMONS ENGINEERING, INC.
6004 Ponders Court Phone (864) 288-1265

Greenville, South Carolina 29615 Fax (864) 288-4430

ACCEPTANCE SHEET

The purpose of this sheet is to obtain your written authorization for our services and confirm the terms and conditions under which these
services are provided as shown below.

Compensation for services rendered will be based on the attached schedule of fees (or as otherwise indicated below) which are part of
this work authorization. If we are requested to modify the scope of work at your request or determine during the execution of the work
that a modification of scope is required, we will promptly seek and confirm in writing a mutually agreeable revision of the scope of
work and associated charges. All testing will be performed in accordance with the applicable specifications unless otherwise noted and
test results apply only to the materials actually tested.

Project Name and Proposal Number: Contract for Geotechnical Exploration
BLE Contract No. P18-0429

Project Location: Site B- Jonathan Creek Soil Reclamation Project
Haywood County, North Carolina

FOR PAYMENT OF CHARGES: (to the account of)

Firm: Attention:
Address:
City, State: Zip Code: Phone Number:
Fax Number:
WORK AUTHORIZED BY:
Signature Date

Print Name and Title - Signatory warrants his/her authority to bind the entity represented here.

Company Name

Address

City State Zip Code

SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS:

Page 1 of 4
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS
WHEREAS, CLIENT is seeking engineering and/or environmental or other consulting
services in regards to services associated with a property or properties (“Subject Property”)
and/or services associated with a specific activity or activities; and Bunnell-Lammons
Engineering, Inc., (hereinafter "BLE") is an independent consultant. Therefore, CLIENT
and BLE (collectively, the "Parties") agree as follows (the "Agreement").

1. SERVICES TO BE PROVIDED. BLE through and by its officers, employees
and subcontractors, is an independent consultant and agrees to provide Client, for its sole
benefit and exclusive use, consulting services set forth in BLE’s proposal. No third party
beneficiaries are intended by this agreement.

2, PAYMENT TERMS. Client agrees to pay BLE's invoice upon receipt. If
payment is not received within 30 days from the Client's receipt of invoice, Client agrees
to pay a service charge on the past due amount at the greater of 1.5% per month or the
allowable legal rate, including attorney's fees and expenses if BLE’s fee is collected
through an attorney. No deduction shall be made from invoice on account of liquidated
damages unless expressly included in the Agreement. BLE may suspend services until
paid on any project where payment of invoiced amounts not reasonably in dispute is not
received by BLE within 60 days of Client's receipt of BLE's invoice. Invoices will be sent
approximately monthly for the services performed.

3. STANDARD OF CARE. BLE will perform its services using that degree of
care and skill ordinarily exercised under similar conditions by reputable members of BLE's
profession practicing in the same or similar locality at the time of service. NO OTHER
WARRANTY, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, IS MADE OR INTENDED BY BLE’s
PROPOSAL OR BY BLE’S ORAL OR WRITTEN REPORTS. Nothing in this agreement
or in the services provided by BLE is intended to create, nor shall it be construed to create
a fiduciary relationship owed by either party to one another.

4. INSURANCE. BLE maintains insurance coverage as follows:

a. Worker's Compensation Insurance.

b. Employers Liability Insurance.

c. Commercial General Liability Insurance.

d. Professional Errors and Omission.
Certificates of Insurance can be provided upon acceptance of this agreement and upon
request.

5. PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY. FOR ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATION
FROM BLE OF $10.00, RECEIPT OF WHICH IS HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGED,
CLIENT AGREES THAT BLE’S LIABILITY, AND THAT OF ITS OFFICERS,
DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES, AGENTS AND SUBCONTRACTORS, TO CLIENT OR
ANY THIRD PARTY DUE TO ANY NEGLIGENT PROFESSIONAL ACTS, ERRORS
OR OMISSIONS OR BREACH OF CONTRACT BY BLE WILL BE LIMITED TO AN
AGGREGATE OF $50,000 OR BLE’S TOTAL CHARGES, WHICHEVER IS
GREATER. IF CLIENT PREFERS TO HAVE HIGHER LIMITS OF PROFESSIONAL
LIABILITY, BLE AGREES TO INCREASE THE AGGREGATE LIMIT, UP TO A
MAXIMUM OF $100,000, UPON CLIENTS WRITTEN REQUEST AT THE TIME OF
ACCEPTING BLE’S PROPOSAL, PROVIDED CLIENT AGREES TO PAY AN
ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATION OF 5% OF TOTAL CHARGES, OR $500,
WHICHEVER IS GREATER. THE ADDITIONAL CHARGE FOR THE HIGHER
LIABILITY LIMIT IS BECAUSE OF THE GREATER RISK ASSUMED BY BLE AND
IS NOT A CHARGE FOR ADDITIONAL PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY INSURANCE.
IN ADDITION, CLIENT FURTHER AGREES THAT NEITHER BLE NOR ITS
MEMBERS, OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES, AGENTS AND/OR
SUBCONTRACTORS SHALL BE LIABLE TO CLIENT FOR SPECIAL, INDIRECT,
OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR
OTHERWISE. THE LIMITATIONS SET OUT HEREIN SHALL NOT APPLY TO THE
EXTENT PROHIBITED BY LAW.

6. SITE OPERATIONS. Client will arrange for right-of-entry to the property
for the purpose of performing project management, studies, tests and evaluations pursuant
to the agreed services. Client represents that it possesses necessary permits and licenses
required for its activities at the site.

BLE's field personnel are trained to initiate field testing, drilling and/or sampling within a
reasonable distance of each designated location. BLE's field personnel will avoid hazards
or utilities which are visible to them at the site. IfBLE is advised in writing of the presence
or potential presence of underground or above ground obstructions, such as utilities, BLE
will give special instructions to BLE’s field personnel. BLE is not responsible for any
damage or loss due to undisclosed or unknown surface or subsurface conditions owned by
Client or third parties, except to the extent such damage or loss is a result of BLE's
negligence. Otherwise, Client agrees for the additional consideration of $1.00, to
indemnify and hold BLE, its directors, officers, employees, agents and subcontractors
harmless, from any such claims, suits or losses, including related reasonable attorney's fees.

BLE will take reasonable precautions to minimize damage to the property caused by its
operations. Unless otherwise stated in BLE's proposal, BLE’s charges do not include cost
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ofrestoration due to any related damage which may result. If Client requests BLE to repair
such damage, BLE will do so at an appropriate additional cost.

Field tests or boring locations described in BLE's report or shown on sketches are based on
specific information furnished by others or estimates made in the field by BLE personnel.
Such dimensions, depths or elevations should be considered as approximations unless
otherwise stated in BLE’s proposal or report.

7. FIELD REPRESENTATIVE. The presence of BLE or its subcontractor's
field personnel, either full-time or part-time, may be for the purpose of providing project
administration, assessment, observation and/or field testing of specific aspects of the
project as authorized by Client. Should a contractor(s) not retained by BLE be involved in
the project, Client will advise such contractor(s) that BLE's services do not include
supervision or direction of the means, methods or actual work of the contractor(s), its
employees or agents. Client will also inform contractor that the presence of BLE's field
representative for project administration, assessment, observation or testing will not relieve
the contractor of its responsibilities for performing the work in accordance with the plans
and specifications.

If a contractor (not a subcontractor of BLE) is involved in the project, Client agrees, in
accordance with generally accepted construction practices, that the contractor will be solely
and completely responsible for working conditions on the job site, including security and
safety of all persons and property during performance of the work, and compliance with
all Client safety requirements and OSHA regulations. These requirements will apply
continuously and will not be limited to normal working hours. It is agreed that BLE will
not be responsible for job or site safety or security on the project, other than for BLE’s
employees and subcontractors, and that BLE does not have the duty or right to stop the
work of the contractor or other third parties.

8. UNFORESEEN CONDITIONS OR OCCURRENCES. It is possible that
unforeseen conditions or occurrences may be encountered at the site which could
substantially alter the necessary services or the risks involved in completing BLE's
services. If this occurs, BLE will promptly notify and consult with Client, but will act
based on BLE's sole judgment where risk to BLE personnel is involved. Possible actions
could include:

a. Complete the original Scope of Services in accordance with the procedures originally
intended in BLE’s proposal, if practicable in BLE's judgment;

b. Agree with Client to modify the Scope of Services and the estimate of charges to include
study of the unforeseen conditions or occurrences, with such revision agreed to in writing;

c. Terminate the services effective on the date specified by BLE in writing.

9. SAMPLE DISPOSAL. Test specimens or samples generally are consumed
or substantially altered during testing and any remnants are disposed of immediately upon
completion of tests. Remaining drilling samples and other specimens are disposed of 30
days after submission of BLE's report. In the event that test samples contain toxic or
hazardous constituents as defined by applicable law, upon completion of any testing and
temporary storage by BLE and per Client's stated preference, BLE will return such samples
to Client for proper disposal.

10. WASTE DISPOSAL. If Client requests BLE to containerize drilling wastes
and/or fluids produced by BLE's activity ("Wastes"), Client will provide a secure
temporary storage location at or near the project site to prevent tampering with such
containerized Wastes. Non-hazardous Wastes will be disposed of by BLE for an additional
charge at an appropriately licensed facility. Any hazardous Wastes will be disposed of
under manifest executed by Client at any properly licensed facility selected by Client with
BLE's assistance. At no time will BLE take title to such hazardous Wastes.

11 *CLIENT DISCLOSURE. Client agrees to advise BLE upon execution of
this Agreement of any hazardous substance or any condition, known or that reasonably
should be known by Client, existing in, on, or near the site that presents a potential danger
to human health, the environment, or BLE's equipment. Client agrees to provide BLE
continuing related information as it becomes available to the Client. By virtue of entering
into this Agreement or providing services hereunder, BLE does not assume control of or
responsibility as an operator or otherwise for the site or the person(s) in charge of the site,
or undertake responsibility for reporting to any federal, state or local public agencies any
conditions at the site that may present a potential danger to public health, safety or the
environment. Client agrees under advice of its counsel to notify the appropriate federal,
state or local public agencies as required by law; or otherwise to disclose, in a timely
manner, any information that may be necessary to prevent damage to human health, safety,
or the environment.

12. *ENVIRONMENTAL INDEMNITY. In connection with toxic or hazardous
substances or constituents and to the maximum extent permitted by law, for separate and
valuable consideration of $1.00, Client agrees to defend, hold harmless and indemnify BLE
from and against any and all claims, liabilities, or judgments, except to the extent finally
determined as being caused by BLE's negligence or willful misconduct, resulting from:
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a. Client's violation of any federal, state, or local statute, regulation or ordinance relating
to the management or disposal of toxic or hazardous substances or constituents;

b. Client's undertaking of or arrangement for the handling, removal,
treatment, storage, transportation or disposal of toxic or hazardous substances or
constituents found or identified at the site;

c. Toxic or hazardous substances or constituents introduced at the site by
Client or third persons before, during or after the completion of BLE's services;

d. Allegations that BLE is a handler, generator, operator, treater, storer,
transporter, or disposer unless expressly retained by Client for such services under the
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 as amended or any other similar federal,
state or local regulation or law due to the BLE's services; or,

e. Any third party suit or claim for damages against BLE alleging strict
liability, personal injury (including death) or property damage from exposure to or release
of toxic or hazardous substances or constituents at or from the project site before, during
or after completion of BLE's services under this Agreement.
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14. DOCUMENTS. BLE will furnish Client the agreed upon number of written

reports and supporting documents. These instruments of services are furnished for Client's
exclusive internal use and reliance, use of Client's counsel, use of Client's qualified bidders
(design services only) and for regulatory submittal in connection with the project or
services provided for in this Agreement, but not for advertising or other type of distribution,
and are subject to the following:

a. All documents generated by BLE under this Agreement shall remain the
sole property of BLE. Any unauthorized use or distribution of BLE's work shall be at
Client's and recipient's sole risk and without liability to BLE. BLE may retain a
confidential file copy of its work product and related documents.

b. If Client desires to release, or for BLE to provide, BLE’s report(s) to a third
party not described above for that party's reliance, BLE will agree to such release provided
we receive written acceptance from such third party to be bound by acceptable terms and
conditions similar to this Agreement (e.g. Secondary Client Agreement). Reports provided
for disclosure of information only will not require separate agreement. Client
acknowledges and agrees to inform such third party that BLE's report(s) reflects conditions
only at the time of the study and may not reflect conditions at a later time. Client further
acknowledges that such request for release creates a potential conflict of interest for BLE
and by this request Client waives any such claim if BLE complies with the request.

c. Client agrees that all documents furnished to Client or Client's agents or
designees, if not paid for, will be returned upon demand and will not be used by Client or
any other entity for any purpose whatsoever. Client further agrees that documents
produced by BLE pursuant to this Agreement will not be used for any project not expressly
provided for in this Agreement without BLE's prior written approval.

d. Client shall furnish documents or information reasonably within Client's
control and deemed necessary by BLE for proper performance of BLE’s services. BLE
may rely upon Client-provided documents in performing the services required under this
Agreement; however, BLE assumes no responsibility or liability for their accuracy. Client-
provided documents will remain the property of Client, but BLE may retain one
confidential file copy as needed to support its report.

e. Upon Client's request, BLE's work product may be provided on magnetic
media. By such request, Client agrees that the written copy retained by BLE in its files,
with at least one written copy provided to Client, shall be the official base document. BLE
makes no warranty or representation to Client that the magnetic copy is accurate or
complete, but will correct in good faith any omissions or errors brought to BLE's attention
by Client. Any modifications of such magnetic copy by Client shall be at Client's risk and
without liability to BLE. Such magnetic copy is subject to all other conditions of this
Agreement.

15. CLAIMS. The parties agree to attempt to resolve any dispute without resort
to litigation, including use of mediation, prior to filing of any suit. including use of
mediation, prior to filing ofany suit. However, in the event that a claim results in litigation,
then the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover from the non- prevailing party the
prevailing party’s reasonable legal fees and expenses associated with such litigation.
EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL
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RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR
RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED
HEREBY.

16. OPINIONS OF COST. If requested, BLE will use its best efforts and
experience on similar projects to provide realistic opinions or estimates of costs for
remediation or construction as appropriate based on reasonably available data, BLE's
designs or BLE's recommendations. However, such opinions are intended primarily to
provide information on the order of magnitude or scale of such costs and are not intended
for use in firm budgeting or negotiation unless specifically agreed otherwise, in writing
with BLE. Client understands actual costs of such work depend heavily on regional
economics, local construction practices, material availability, site conditions, weather
conditions, contractor skills, and many other factors beyond BLE's control.

17. TESTIMONY. Should BLE or any BLE employee be compelled by law to
provide testimony or other evidence by any party, whether at deposition, hearing, or trial,
in relation to services provided under this Agreement, and BLE is not a party in the dispute,
then BLE shall be compensated by Client for the associated reasonable expenses and labor
for BLE's preparations and testimony at appropriate unit rates. To the extent the party
compelling the testimony ultimately provides BLE such compensation, Client will receive
a credit or refund on any related double payments to BLE.

18. CONFIDENTIALITY. BLE will maintain as confidential any documents or
information provided by Client and will not release, distribute or publish same to any third
party without prior permission from Client, unless compelled by law or order of a court or
regulatory body of competent jurisdiction. Such release will occur only after prior notice
to Client.

19. GOVERNING LAW. This Agreement shall be governed in all respects by
the laws of the State of North Carolina.

20. PRIORITY OVER FORM AGREEMENT/PURCHASE ORDERS. The
Parties agree that the provisions of these terms and conditions shall control over and not be
superseded by any provisions of any other documents or writings and may be amended
only by written instrument signed by both Client and BLE. Client may issue purchase
orders to BLE to satisfy Client’s purchasing requirements. It is agreed that the terms and
conditions included in such purchase orders shall be considered deleted in their entirety
and such terms and conditions shall be void.

21. SURVIVAL. All provisions of this Agreement for indemnity or allocation of
responsibility or liability between Client and BLE shall survive the completion of the
services and the termination of this Agreement.

22. SEVERABILITY. In the event that any provision of this Agreement is found
to be unenforceable under law, the remaining provisions shall continue in full force and
effect.

23. ASSIGNMENT. This Agreement may not be assigned by either party without
the prior permission of the other.

24. CONSIDERATION. The parties agree that the charges for BLE's services are
sufficiently adjusted to include any specific consideration payable to Client under these
terms and conditions.

25. INTEGRATION. This Agreement, the attached documents and those
incorporated herein constitute the entire Agreement between the parties and cannot be
changed except by a written instrument signed by both parties.

26. FORCE MAJEURE. Any failure of performance under this Agreement shall
not constitute breach if said failure of performance is due to an event or events beyond the
reasonable control of the Parties or either of them; such events of force majeure shall
include, but not be limited to, acts of God, natural disasters, war and strikes.

If an event of force majeure occurs, BLE shall notify CLIENT, identify the event of force
majeure and specify the anticipated time when the Work can be continued. Timely
notification ofan event of force majeure shall extend the completion date of this Agreement
for a time equal to the continuation of the force majeure plus any reasonable time necessary
to resume Work. CLIENT agrees to pay BLE for all reasonable costs incurred associated
with labor and equipment, including subcontractor services, necessary to resume Work.

27 CONFIDENTIALITY. BLE and CLIENT recognize that each of them may
encounter written or unwritten confidential information regarding the other Party during
the course of the services set forth in the Proposal. Confidential information means all
technical, economic, financial, pricing, marketing or other information that has not been
published and/or is not otherwise available to members of the public and includes, without
limitation, trade secrets, proprietary information, customer lists, scientific, technical and
business studies, analyses, processes, methods, procedures, policies and information. The
Party receiving such confidential information agrees to hold as confidential and not to
disclose such information. Each Party shall make its employees having access to said
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information aware of this obligation of confidentiality and bind said employees under
similar obligations of confidence.

All drawings, specifications, technical documents of any nature, and copies thereof,
prepared pursuant to this Agreement shall be the property of BLE and are to be treated as
confidential. They are not to be disclosed to others without BLE prior written approval.
BLE shall treat as confidential all documents and records (the "Documents") belonging to
CLIENT or a third party that BLE reviews during the performance of services set forth in
the Proposal. BLE shall not disclose the Documents to any third party without the prior
written consent of the Documents' owner or owners. No articles, papers or treatises related
to or in any way associated with the services set forth in the Proposal shall be submitted
for publication without BLE's prior written consent. BLE may retain copies of all such
documents for archival purposes and to support or defend its work.

The confidentiality restrictions herein shall not apply to information that: (1) the Parties
had in their possession prior to disclosure; (2) becomes public knowledge through no act
or fault of the receiving Party; (3) the receiving Party lawfully acquires from a third party
which does not have a confidentiality obligation to the Party to which the information
pertains; (4) is independently developed by the receiving Party; or (5) is required to be
disclosed by law. Without the express written consent of BLE, this Agreement creates no
duties or liabilities of BLE to third parties who may rely on the Work provided or the
documents delivered hereunder. The Parties agree that although CLIENT may provide
copies of BLE's reports to prospective property purchasers and their agents, no party other
than CLIENT, its counsel or appropriate regulatory bodies may rely on the contents of
BLE's reports.

28. INDEMNITY. If CLIENT or any of its directors, officers, shareholders,
employees, agents, attorneys, successors, assigns and affiliates (collectively, the "CLIENT
Affiliates") become subject to any liabilities, obligations, claims, losses, damages,
penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs and expenses (including, without limitation, fees
and disbursements of attorneys and consultants) (collectively, "Claims"), arising from,
related to or in connection with:

a. the negligence, gross negligence or willful misconduct of BLE or its
directors, officers, employees, subcontractors, agents and affiliates (collectively, the
"Representatives");

b. a violation of a statute or regulation by BLE or its Representatives; and/or
c. a breach of this Agreement by BLE or its Representatives;

BLE shall indemnify and hold harmless CLIENT and its Affiliates from and against any
and all Claims. For purposes of the preceding sentence, "negligence" shall be deemed to
include both negligent acts and omissions, but this indemnification shall only extend to the
proportional extent of BLE's negligent, wrongful or willful acts or omissions.

If BLE or any of its directors, officers, employees, agents, attorneys, successors, assigns
and affiliates (collectively, the "BLE Affiliates") become subject to any liabilities,
obligations, claims, losses, damages, penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs and
expenses (including, without limitation, fees and disbursements of attorneys and
consultants) (collectively, "Claims"), arising from, related to or in connection with:

a. the negligence, gross negligence or willful misconduct of CLIENT or its
directors, officers, shareholders, employees, subcontractors, agents and affiliates
(collectively, the "Representatives");

b. aviolation of a statute or regulation by CLIENT or its Representatives; and/or

c. a breach of this Agreement by CLIENT or its Representatives;

CLIENT shall indemnify and hold harmless BLE and its Affiliates from and against any
and all Claims. For purposes of the preceding sentence, "negligence" shall be deemed to
include both negligent acts and omissions, but this indemnification shall only extend to the
proportional extent of CLIENT’s negligent, wrongful or willful acts or omissions.

29. NON-EXCLUSIVITY. BLE recognizes and agrees that its services
hereunder are to be provided on a non-exclusive basis.

30. WAIVER. Waiver by either Party of any term, provision or condition of this
Agreement shall not constitute a precedent or bind either party to a waiver of any
succeeding breach of the same or any other term, provision or condition of this Agreement.

3L TERMINATION. This Agreement terminates automatically when BLE
completes the services set forth in the Proposal. Either Party may terminate this Agreement
without cause upon 30 days written notice to the other Party. In the event CLIENT requests
termination prior to completion, CLIENT agrees to pay BLE for all reasonable costs
incurred to date and reasonable charges associated with termination of its services.
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NOTES:

*Applies only if toxic or hazardous substances or constituents are anticipated or
encountered.

For work in the State of Georgia, delete the words “or any third party” as such words appear
in Paragraph 5
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